IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

	_	
THE PEOPLE,)) Case No. S213819	
THE LEGILE,	Case No. 5213819	
Plaintiff and Respondent,)	
•	Second Appellate District,	
vs.	Division Two, Case No.	
LEON BANKS, et al.,) B236152)	
)	
Defendants and Appellants.)	
	SUPREME	^^!:: <u>-</u> -
		E D
Los Angeles County Supe	erior Court No. BA347305	
-	idge Gail R. Feuer MAR 24	2014

APPELLANT MATTHEWS'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

The Honorable, Judge Gail R. Feuer

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

DANALYNN PRITZ, ESQ. (SBN 164488)

LAW OFFICES OF PRITZ & ASSOCIATES PRITZ.ASSOCIATES@VERIZON.NET

3625 East Thousand Oaks Blvd., Suite 176 Westlake Village, California 91362

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court's order granting review, was confined to the following issues:

Was the evidence sufficient to establish that Matthews was a "major participant" within the meaning of Penal Code section 190.2, subdivision (d) ¹?

Does the true finding on the special circumstance violate due process? (U.S. Const., 5th & 14th Amends.; Cal. Const., art I., §§ 7, 15; *Enmund v. Florida* (1982) 458 U.S. 782.)

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Matthews and co-appellant Leon Banks were tried together before a single jury. The jury found Matthews guilty of the first degree murder of Noe Gonzales and found true the special circumstance that the murder was committed during the commission of an attempted robbery or burglary (count 1: §187, subd. (a) / §190.2, subd. (a)(17) / §211, 212.5). Matthews was also found guilty of attempted second degree robbery (count 2: §\$664 / 212), and second degree commercial burglary (count 3: §459), and the jury found gang (§186.22, subd. (b)(1)) and firearm enhancements (§12022.53, subds. (d) & (e)) true on all counts. (2CT 447-449 [verdicts].)² On September 16, 2011, Matthews was sentenced to serve life without the possibility of parole. (2CT 506-509.)

On September 22, 2011, Matthews timely appealed from the judgment of conviction and sentence pronounced on September 16, 2011. (2CT 510; §1237, subd. (a).) Among other issues in the direct appeal, Matthews challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to support the true finding on the special circumstance. On August 29, 2013, the Second Appellate District Court of Appeal, Division Two, filed its unpublished opinion, striking the parole revocation fine (§1202.45) and amending the abstract of judgment to reflect that Matthews was sentenced pursuant to section 12022.53, subdivision (e), but otherwise affirming the judgment of conviction and the true finding on the special circumstance. (Court of Appeal Opinion ("Opinion") at pp. 11-28.) Matthews timely filed a petition for review, which this court granted, on the foregoing issues, on December 11, 2013.

² The jury reached the same verdicts for Banks. (2CT 443-446.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. THE PROSECUTION'S CASE.

1. THE ROBBERY / HOMICIDE.

Martin Chavero, Matthew Salinsky, Daniel Sosa and security guard Noe Gonzales, worked at the La Brea Collective, a medical marijuana dispensary located at 812 South La Brea Avenue in Los Angeles (the "dispensary"). (2RT 188-189.) Salinsky had worked with Gonzales for about three months before Gonzales's death. (2RT 203.) Salinsky and Chavero knew Gonzales to be unarmed. (2RT 203, 249.)

The dispensary was a two story facility, with display cases on both floors. (2RT 266-271.) The front door of the dispensary was a metal security door with glass slots that opened. (2RT 252.) The entrance to the dispensary, on La Brea Avenue, had a mantrap, a little room that divided the street from the lobby. (2RT 252-253.) When a person came to the dispensary with a prescription, they would ring the doorbell outside and be let into the mantrap. (2RT 252-253.) The buyer was then required to show the security guard a physician's statement and identification. (2RT 255.) Only patients with proper identification and verified medical marijuana authorizations were permitted inside the dispensary. (2RT 253, RT 304.).)

In the afternoon of October 1, 2008, Chavero was standing by a display case on the first floor of the dispensary when the doorbell rang. (2RT 259.) On the store's video monitor, Chavero saw two armed African-American men leading Gonzales, by his arms, into the lobby. (2RT 261-263.) Gonzales said "heads up" in Spanish, which caused Chavero to quickly follow Sosa to the back of the dispensary where the safe was located. (2RT 263-265, 3RT 312-313.)

Salinsky was working upstairs when his attention was drawn to an African-American man jumping over the center divider from the lobby area into the reception area of the dispensary. (2RT 189-190, 206.) One of the assailants came up the stairs, pointing a gun at Salinsky. (2RT 191.) Salinsky did not get a good look at the gun, or the assailant. (2RT 191, 193.) The assailant asked Salinsky, "Where's the shit at?" and Salinsky directed him behind the counter. (2RT 192.) The assailant did not physically touch Salinsky or his client. (2RT 192.)

Meanwhile, as Chavero was walking towards the back of the dispensary, someone kicked the dispensary door open and Banks entered through the open door. (3RT 282-283.) Banks ran after Chavero, grabbing him just as Chavero was locking the safe. (3RT 284, 314.) Banks told Chavero, "If you look at me, I'll kill you." (3RT 284.) Banks had a gun. (3RT 284.)

Banks pushed Chavero and Sosa to the front of the dispensary, and then to the ground, where he put his knee in Chavero's back and began tying Chavero's wrists together with plastic zip ties. (3RT 285-287.) As Banks was doing this, two shots rang out. Banks said, "Shit, we gotta go. We gotta go." and he ran to the lobby. (3RT 286.)

On the video monitor, Chavero saw Banks and two other men in the mantrap, trying to push their way out the front door. (3RT 287-289.)³ Banks fired his weapon through the glass slot in the front door. (3RT 289-290.) Someone else was also shooting, but Chavero could

³ Besides Banks, "[t]he other two men were later identified as David Gardiner, arrested in July 2009, and Brandon Daniels, arrested in March 2010. They are not parties to this appeal." (Opn. at p. 4, fn. 3.)

not recall who it was. (3RT 291.) All three men had guns. (3RT 336.)

Chavero could not see who was on the other side of the mantrap, but he saw someone trying to put their arm around the door. (3RT 290, 291.) The men pushed their way out of the mantrap, and Chavero heard six to seven shots, but he did not see who fired them. (3RT 291.)

Salinsky heard the wrestling downstairs, and a gunshot or two, then nothing, then a series of about four to five gunshots. (2RT 192-193, 207.) When Salinsky came downstairs, he saw Gonzales lying lifeless on the ground near the front door. (2RT 196.)

At 3:45 p.m., on October 1, 2008, Robert Simmons was driving in the number one lane southbound on La Brea Avenue, south of 8th Street, when he heard seven to eight popping sounds and saw an altercation in front of the dispensary. (3RT 422-423.) He saw Banks and Gonzales pushing the front door back and forth. (3RT 424, 428-430.) Banks was inside trying to push the door open, as Gonzales pushed the door closed. (3RT 424.) The men were pointing firearms and firing at each other. (3RT 425.) Gonzales had a gun in his right hand and was trying to reach around the door with his gun. (3RT 425.) Gonzales fired his gun. (3RT 434.) Banks had a gun in his left hand and was trying to reach around the door with his gun. (3RT 425.) Simmons stopped his car, but by that time Gonzales was lying on the sidewalk. (3RT 426.)

James Hustead was sitting at a coffee shop, catty-corner to the dispensary, when a gunshot caught his attention. (4RT 697.) He saw Gonzales standing outside, pushing the front metal security door shut, as it was being pushed open from the inside. Gonzales reached

his hand around the door to the inside and Hustead heard a gunshot. (4RT 697, 714.) Banks then reached his left hand out and around the door and fired a shot at Gonzales. (4RT 698-699, 706.) It looked like it hit Gonzales's body, but Hustead could not be sure. (4RT 716.) Banks then stepped out from behind the door and began shooting at Gonzales's head as he was falling backwards. (4RT 698-699.) Banks was about two feet away from Gonzales when he fired three or four additional shots into his head. (4RT 700.) After Gonzales hit the ground, Banks fired one additional shot into his head. (4RT 700, 717.)⁴

2. THE ESCAPE.

Banks, Daniels, and Gardiner ran north on La Brea Avenue, and turned right on 8th Street. Hustead ran across the street and attempted to resuscitate Gonzales. (4RT 701.) Hustead saw a handgun and a glove lying on the ground next to Gonzales. (4RT 726-727.)

Peter Todorovic was in his upstairs apartment on South Sycamore Avenue when he heard three or four shots coming from La Brea Avenue, the next street over. (3RT 384.) He saw Banks and Gardiner running southbound on Sycamore. They ran into the driveway of the building next to Todorovic's building where they stopped and had a brief conversation. (3RT 385-386.) Banks then ran across the street, jumped a fence, and headed eastbound. (3RT 390.)

⁴ The medical examiner determined that Gonzales died from two gunshot wounds. (5RT 755.)

Gardiner ran south on Sycamore and got into a white Ford Expedition. (3RT 392.) Todorovic said that the Expedition was stopped on Sycamore Avenue when he first noticed the vehicle, although he was not sure if the vehicle had been there, or just got there right before he noticed it. However, when he first noticed the car, it was not moving. (3RT 414, 419-420.) The driver of the Expedition was a very large African-American man. (3RT 393.) The Expedition had a paper license plate that said, "Play," or "Power Play," or "Power." (3RT 393-394.) The vehicle drove northbound on Sycamore and made a right turn onto 8th Street heading east. (3RT 394.) Todorovic was not able to identify the driver. (3RT 397-399.)

Dominic Agbabiaka was on the sidewalk of South Sycamore Avenue, which runs parallel to La Brea Avenue, when Daniels came running south down the street. He asked Agbabiaka if he could use his restroom, but Agbabiaka refused. (2RT 214-216.) Agbabiaka then saw Gardiner come running up the street, and both of them got into a gray Ford Expedition that had just come around the corner from 9th Street. (2RT 217-219.) The Expedition had paper license plates that said, "Power" or "Sun." (2RT 218, 231, 234.) The vehicle was moving faster than normal for a residential street, and as it approached, Daniels yelled out, the name "Troy, Troy" as he jumped into the car. $(2RT\ 218-220.)^5$ The car did not come to a complete stop when the two men jumped in quickly. (2RT 219.)The Expedition took off northbound on Sycamore and turned right onto 8th Street heading east. (2RT 220.)

 $^{^5\,}$ Matthews's middle name is Troy (6RT 997), and Brandon Daniels goes by the name "Tray." (5RT 874.)

3. Banks and Matthews Are Detained.

Police set up a perimeter around the area of La Brea Avenue and 8th Street. (5RT 807.) A helicopter pilot saw Banks walking north on 8th Street, and he was detained about one-and-one-half blocks away from the dispensary. (4RT 640-645.) Matthews was arrested later that day, after driving by Los Angeles Police Department ("LAPD") officers in a Silver Ford Expedition with Power paper license plates on Wilshire Boulevard. (5RT 809-810, 1CT 205.) He was alone in the car when detained. (5RT 810.) The Expedition was registered to Banks and another person, and clothing belonging to Banks was found inside the vehicle. (6RT 1087, 1091.)

4. CRIME SCENE INVESTIGATION, BALLISTICS AND FORENSIC EVIDENCE.

LAPD Officer Elizabeth Ellis arrived at the crime scene at 3:45 or 3:50 p.m. (4RT 459, 637-638.) Gonzales was lying on the ground, his arm partially extended, and there was a silver revolver next to him. (4RT 460-463.)

Detective John Shafia, the investigating officer, arrived shortly after Officer Ellis. (4RT 477-478.) There were bullet holes in the walls, windows, and door jam of the dispensary. (4RT 478.) Three fingerprints were lifted from inside the front door of the dispensary, one of which belonged to Daniels. (5RT 804-805, 6RT 964.)

A physician's statement and recommendation form, with Banks's photograph on it, was found inside the dispensary. (4RT 546-547, 6RT 1089.) One partial palm print on the back of the card belonged to Banks. (6RT 961, 967.)

A revolver was found on the sidewalk in front of the dispensary. (4RT 478-479.) The hammer of the revolver was cocked, and the gun was loaded with two live rounds and three spent rounds. (4RT 564-567.) Officers also found a glove and several 9 mm expended cartridge casings on the sidewalk in front of the dispensary. (4RT 478-479 491-499, 564, 637-639.) The expended casings were fired from a semi-automatic weapon, later determined to be a 9 mm Glock. (4RT 499, 5RT 766-765.) Two zip ties that were tied together were found in the lobby area inside the dispensary. (4RT 478-479.)

On October 7, 2008, LAPD Detective Kurt Wong searched a residential area off Orange Avenue. (3RT 447.) In the bushes near a house, he recovered six black plastic zip ties, a semi-automatic handgun, a gun holster, and a pair of athletic-type gloves. (3RT 449-452.)

Ballistics testing revealed that the semi-automatic pistol Wong found in the bushes had fired the casings found in front of the dispensary. (5RT 765-768, 770-771.) That gun had also fired a bullet fragment that was recovered from Gonzales's body. (5RT 786-787m 822-825.)

DNA analysis showed that Matthews was excluded as a potential contributor of the DNA found in the dispensary, on the zip ties, the gloves, the revolver, the semi-automatic gun, gun magazine, and the gun holster. (4RT 531-535.)

Banks was determined to be a major contributor of the DNA on the gloves Wong found at the house. (4RT 540.) Gardiner's DNA was on the two zip ties and the glove found at the dispensary. (4RT 527-529.) Gonzales's DNA was found on the revolver. (7RT 1212.) No

blood, or DNA belonging to Gardiner or Daniels was found in the Ford Expedition. (5RT 873-874.)

5. <u>CELL PHONE RECORDS AND GLOBAL POSITIONING</u> SATELLITE (GPS) EVIDENCE.

Phone records revealed that Matthews called Banks six times on October 1, 2008. The first call was at 2:53 p.m., and lasted 24 seconds; the second call was at 3:46 p.m., and lasted 32 seconds; the third call was at 3:49 p.m., and lasted 49 seconds; the fourth call was at 3:51 p.m., and lasted 48 seconds; the fifth call was made at 3:53 p.m., and lasted 31 seconds; and, the sixth and final call was made at 3:56 p.m., and lasted 37 seconds. (4RT 675-678.) Matthews also received three incoming calls from Banks: one at 1:49 p.m., which lasted for 19 seconds, one at 3:44 p.m. for 20 seconds, and one at 3:58 p.m. which lasted 20 seconds. (4RT 678-679.) Records did not indicate whether the calls to Banks's phone went through, or went to voice-mail. (4RT 680.)

The parties stipulated that Matthews was wearing a GPS device on October 1, 2008. (4RT 656.) The device captured Matthews's location by longitude and latitude, within 15 meters of his exact location. (4RT 656, 662.) At 2:51 p.m. the GPS device indicated that Matthews was on La Brea Avenue, north of 8th Street, near the dispensary. (4RT 656-666; Peo's Exh. No. 51 [CD Rom of GPS locations, 1st Zip file].) Matthews drove from that location to Mansfield Avenue (three blocks east of La Brea Avenue) where he remained stationary from 2:55 p.m. until 3:45 p.m. (Peo's Exh. 51 [1st & 2d Zip file].)

At 3:46 p.m. (the time at which witnesses reported hearing shots fired) Matthews drove from Mansfield Avenue to 9th Street, then to 8th Street, east of Sycamore Avenue. (Peo's Exh. 51 [1st & 2d Zip file].) At 3:48 p.m. he drove west down Olympic Boulevard, went east on San Vicente, north on Curson Avenue, west on Wilshire Boulevard between Sycamore and Orange, back to Mansfield Avenue between Wilshire and 8th Street, then westbound on Wilshire. At 4:02 p.m. Matthews was on Wilshire between Bronson and Norton Avenue. (*Ibid.*) Matthews remained near the corner of Wilshire and Norton Avenue from 4:02 p.m. until 5:21 p.m. (Peo's Exh. 51 [2d & 3d Zip file].) At 5:21 he drove up Norton Avenue to 6th Street and remained at that location until 6:38 p.m. (Peo's Exh. 51 [3d Zip file].) At 6:38, Matthews drove down Pico Boulevard to Venice Boulevard were he remained from 6:49 until 7:00 p.m. (*Ibid.*)

6. GANG EVIDENCE.

LAPD Officer James Moon testified as the People's gang expert. (6RT 972.) He was familiar with the Rollin 30's gang. It is a Crips gang with approximately 750 members. (6RT 974-975.) The primary activities of the Rollin 30's gang include: narcotics sales, burglaries, robberies, shootings, attempted murders, murder, and carrying guns. (6RT 975, 999-1001 [predicate offenses].)

Banks was not a member of the Rollin 30's gang. (6RT 980.) However, Moon believed Matthews, Daniels, and Gardiner were members of the gang. (6RT 982-985, 991-997.) Matthews was known by one officer as "Big Boy," and another officer knew him as "Troy." Troy is Matthews's middle name. (6RT 997.) There were no field

identification cards in the LAPD database regarding Matthews. (6RT 1031-1035.)

The dispensary was not located within the gang's claimed territory. (6RT 1007.) Nevertheless, Moon was of the opinion that the individuals involved here were putting in work for the gang, and committing the crime in association with the Rollin 30's gang, and that the gang benefitted because the crime put direct fear into the community, showing that the gang was active and willing to commit violent crimes. (6RT 1006.) However, Moon admitted that no one identified themselves as a member of the Rollin 30's gang, no gang signs were thrown, no one wore gang clothing, or flashed gang tattoos, and none of the victims believed this to be a gang-related crime. (6RT 1045, 1067.) Gang members can commit crimes for their own benefit. (6RT 1045.)

B. THE DEFENSE.

Banks's theory of defense was mistaken identity and he called Dr. Robert Shomer, an expert on the factors involved in perception, memory, and eyewitness identification (6RT 1102-1117), and Juan Renteria, who worked next door to the dispensary, but was never interviewed by police. (6RT 1139-1140, 1144.) Renteria did not see Banks on the day of the shooting. (6RT 1143-1144.)

Matthews did not present any evidence in his defense, but argued that the prosecution had not met its burden to prove the charges beyond a reasonable doubt, and specifically that the circumstantial evidence was not sufficient to prove that Matthews had the requisite intent to aid and abet the commission of these crimes. (8RT 1434-1464.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 190.2, subdivision (d) (hereinafter "190.2(d)") of California's capital sentencing scheme, was enacted to bring California law into conformity with the High Court's decision in *Tison v. Arizona* (1987) 481 U.S. 137 ("*Tison*"), and the statutory language of section 190.2(d) derives verbatim from the decision in *Tison*. (*People v. Estrada* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 568, 575 ("*Estrada*").) *Tison* held that the Eighth Amendment did not prohibit capital punishment for an accomplice to a felony murder if the accomplice acted as a major participant in the underlying felony *and* his or her mental state was one of "reckless indifference to human life." (*Estrada*, at p. 575.) *Tison* and section 190(d) are written in the conjunctive, to require both elements.

Neither *Tison* nor this Court has defined what it means to be a "major participant" in the underlying felony. *Tison* did, however, define what it means to play a "minor" role in the underlying felony. *Tison* found that Mr. Enmund, the getaway driver in an armed robbery, in *Enmund v. Florida* (1982) 458 U.S. 782 ("*Enmund*"), was a "minor actor in an armed robbery, not on the scene, who neither intended to kill nor was found to have had any culpable mental state." (*Tison, supra,* 481 U.S. at p. 149.) Mr. Matthews is California's version of Mr. Enmund.

Tison stands for the proposition that what constitutes "major participation" is a fact-dependent determination along a continuum marked by three points: Mr. Enmund, the *minor* participant at one end who does *not* qualify for capital sentencing; the actual killer at the opposite end; and, the Tison brothers, major participants in the

underlying felonies who acted with reckless indifference to human life, who fall somewhere in the middle. (*Tison, supra,* 481 U.S. at pp. 149-150.)

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