In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

LEON BANKS, et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

GRC
8.25(b)
JUN 2 4 2014

Case No. S213819
Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. B236152 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BA347305 The Honorable Gail Ruderman Feuer, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
LANCE E. WINTERS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
KEITH H. BORJON
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
PAUL M. ROADARMEL, JR.
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 126239

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH THAT MATTHEWS WAS A "MAJOR PARTICIPANT" WITHIN THE MEANING OF PENAL CODE SECTION 190.2, SUBDIVISION (D)

Matthews contends that the evidence was insufficient to sustain his special circumstance finding as an aider and abettor under the felony-murder rule, purportedly because he was not a "major participant" within the meaning of section 190.2, subdivision (d). (AOB 15-41.) The Court of Appeal, however, correctly rejected Matthews's contention.

A. General Principles Regarding Sufficiency Of The Evidence

When an appellant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, this Court must determine "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." (Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 319 [99 S.Ct.

278, 61 L.Ed.2d 560], original italics; accord, *People v. Manibusin* (2013) 58 Cal.4th 40, 87; *People v. Bolin* (1998) 10 Cal.4th 297, 331; *People v. Johnson* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 578.) In doing so, the court ""presume[s] in support of the judgment the existence of every fact the trier could reasonably deduce from the evidence."" (*People v. Davis* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 463, 509, quoting *People v. Pensinger* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1210, 1237; accord, *People v. Kipp* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 1100, 1128; *People v. Ochoa* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 1199, 1206; *People v. Rowland* (1992) 4 Cal.4th 238, 269.)

The question on appeal, therefore, is not whether the evidence as judged by the reviewing court establishes guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, but simply whether substantial evidence was presented at trial to justify the factfinder's conclusion. (*Ochoa, supra*, 6 Cal.4th at p. 1206; *People v. Barnes* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 284, 303.) The appellate court gives deference to the trier of fact in assessing the credibility of the witnesses and does not substitute its evaluation of a witness's credibility for that of the trier of fact. (*Barnes, supra*, 42 Cal.3d at pp. 303-304; accord, *People v. Chatman* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 344, 391; see also *People v. Lindberg* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 1, 27 ["A reviewing court neither reweighs evidence nor reevaluates a witness's credibility."].)

The same standard applies when the conviction rests primarily on circumstantial evidence. (*People v. Young* (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1149, 1175; accord, *People v. Clark* (2011) 54 Cal.4th 856, 943; *People v. Maury* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 342, 396; *People v. Perez* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1117, 1124.) "Reversal [for insufficient evidence] is unwarranted unless it appears 'that upon no hypothesis whatsoever is there sufficient substantial evidence to support [the conviction]." (*Bolin, supra*, 18 Cal.4th at p. 331, quoting *People v. Redmond* (1969) 71 Cal.2d 745, 755.) "If the circumstances reasonably justify the trier of fact's findings, the opinion of the reviewing

court that the circumstances might also be reconciled with a contrary finding does not warrant a reversal of the judgment. [Citations.]" (*People v. Thomas* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 489, 514, quoting *People v. Bean* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 919, 933.)

"To determine the sufficiency of the evidence to support a special circumstance finding, [an appellate court] appl[ies] the same test used to determine the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction of a criminal offense. [It] 'review[s] the whole record in the light most favorable to the judgment below to determine whether it discloses substantial evidence – that is, evidence which is reasonable, credible, and of solid value – such that a reasonable trier of fact could find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." (*People v. Mayfield* (1997) 14 Cal.4th 668, 790-791; accord, *People v. Jackson* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 724, 749; *People v. Harris* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 804, 849.)

B. General Principles Regarding California's First Degree Felony-Murder Rule

"In California, the first degree felony-murder rule 'is a creature of statute.' [Citation.] When the prosecution establishes that a defendant killed while committing one of the felonies section 189 lists, 'by operation of the statute the killing is deemed to be first degree murder as a matter of law." (People v. Mendoza (2000) 23 Cal.4th 896, 908.) The list of felonies includes, as relevant here, attempted robbery and burglary. "With respect to any homicide resulting from the commission of or attempt to commit one of the felonies listed in the statute, [this Court's] decisions generally hold section 189 to be not only a degree-fixing device but also a codification of the felony-murder rule: no independent proof of malice is required in such cases, and by operation of the statute the killing is deemed to be first degree murder as a matter of law." (People v. Dillon (1983) 34 Cal.3d 441, 465, italics omitted.)

1. Aider And Abettor Liability

"All persons concerned in the commission of a crime, . . . whether they directly commit the act constituting the offense, or aid and abet in its commission, . . . are principals in any crime so committed.' (§ 31.)

Accordingly, an aider and abettor 'shares the guilt of the actual perpetrator.'" (*People v. Mendoza* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 1114, 1122, quoting *People v. Prettyman* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 248, 259; accord, *People v. Maciel* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 482, 518.) Persons aiding and abetting the commission of a crime listed in section 189 are guilty of first degree murder "when one of them kills while acting in furtherance of the common design." (*People v. Washington* (1965) 62 Cal.2d 777, 782; §§ 31, 189; accord, *Dillon*, supra, 34 Cal.3d at p. 465.)

"The logical basis for conviction as an aider and abettor is that with knowledge of the unlawfulness of the act, one renders some independent contribution to the commission of the crime or otherwise makes it more probable that the crime will be successfully completed than would be the case absent such participation. [Citation.]" (*People v. Markus* (1978) 82 Cal.App.3d 477, 481.)

2. The Felony-Murder Special Circumstance As Applied To Aiders And Abettors

Section 190.2, subdivision (d), provides in relevant part: "every person, not the actual killer, who, with reckless indifference to human life and as a major participant, aids, abets, counsel, commands, induces, solicits, requests, or assists in the commission of a felony enumerated in paragraph (17) of subdivision (a) which results in the death of some person or persons, and who is found guilty of murder in the first degree therefor, shall be punished by . . . imprisonment . . . for life without the possibility of parole" (See *Estrada*, *supra*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 578; *People v. Dellinger* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 1212, 1219.) The phrase "major participant," as set forth

in section 190.2, subdivision (d), is derived verbatim from the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Tison*, *supra*, 481 U.S. at page 137. (*Estrada*, *supra*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 575.)

C. Tison, Enmund, And The Requirement That The Aider And Abettor Be A "Major Participant"

In *Tison*, the United States Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment's proportionality requirement does not prohibit imposition of the death penalty on an aider and abettor convicted of first degree felony murder where the aider and abettor was a "major participant" in the underlying felony and showed "reckless indifference to human life." (*Tison*, *supra*, 481 U.S. at p. 158 & fn. 12; see also *Estrada*, *supra*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 575 [observing that the incorporation of *Tison*'s rule into section 190.2, subdivision (d), "brought state capital sentencing law into conformity with prevailing Eighth Amendment doctrine"]; *Tapia v. Superior Court* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 282, 298, fn. 16.)

The defendants in *Tison* were two brothers sentenced to death for their involvement in the roadside kidnapping, robbery, and murder of a family of four. The defendants orchestrated the prison escape of their father and his cellmate, arming themselves, a third brother, and their father with guns while still inside prison walls, and assisting in the escapees' flight after the breakout. When the group's getaway car suffered a flat tire, one of the defendants flagged down a passing motorist for help. Both of the defendants participated in the kidnapping and robbery of the occupants of the stopped vehicle, and were nearby when their father and his cellmate shot and killed the four victims. (*Tison*, *supra*, 481 U.S. at pp. 139-141.)

The *Tison* defendants relied on *Enmund*, *supra*, 458 U.S. at page 782, to contend that, because they did not intend to kill the victims, their death sentences did not comport with the Eighth Amendment's requirement that the death penalty be proportional to the culpability of the defendant. The

high court rejected the defendants' argument. In doing so, it concluded that "the reckless disregard for human life implicit in knowingly engaging in criminal activities known to carry a grave risk of death represents a highly culpable mental state." (*Tison*, *supra*, 481 U.S. at p. 157.) The court therefore held that "major participation in the felony committed, combined with reckless indifference to human life, is sufficient to satisfy the *Enmund* culpability requirement." (*Id.* at p. 158, fn. omitted.) The court recognized that although it "state[d] these two requirements separately, they often overlap":

[T]here are some felonies as to which one could properly conclude that any major participant necessarily exhibits reckless indifference to the value of human life. Moreover, even in cases where the fact that the defendant was a major participant in a felony did not suffice to establish reckless indifference, that fact would still often provide significant support for such a finding.

(Id. at p. 158, fn. 12.)

Because *Tison* addressed the question whether imposition of the *death* penalty on an accomplice to a felony murder who neither killed nor intended to kill the victim would violate the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, "[t]he decision itself does not stand for the proposition that imposition of a penalty less severe than death, such as life imprisonment without parole, would offend constitutional principles in the absence of [such] proof' [Citation.]" (Estrada, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 575.) This Court has nevertheless held that "Tison is the source of the language of section 190.2(d), and the constitutional standards set forth in that opinion are therefore applicable to all allegations of a felony-murder special circumstance, regardless of whether the People seek and exact the death penalty or a sentence of life without parole." (Id. at pp. 575-576, italics in original.)

Although the relevant language of section 190.2, subdivision (d), is derived from *Tison*, there is no such contribution from *Enmund*. In apparent recognition of that fact, the Court of Appeal in this case distinguished Enmund in part by noting it "concern[ed] the proportionality of a sentence of death," whereas Matthews "received a sentence of life without the possibility of parole." (Opn. at p. 22.) This is consistent with United States Supreme Court precedent. As the high court has observed, "Enmund holds only that the principles of proportionality embodied in the Eighth Amendment bar imposition of the death penalty upon a class of persons who may nonetheless be guilty of the crime of capital murder as defined by state law: that is, the class of murderers who did not themselves kill, attempt to kill, or intend to kill." (Cabana v. Bullock (1987) 474 U.S. 376, 385 [106 S.Ct. 689, 88 L.Ed.2d 704], italics added, fn. omitted; see also id. at pp. 385-386 [Enmund "does not affect the state's definition of any substantive offense, even a capital offense," but is simply a "substantive limitation on sentencing"]; People v. Contreras (2013) 58 Cal.4th 123, 163 ["Enmund's limits on death eligibility and sentencing are 'categorical.'"].)4

Nevertheless, in *Kelly v. California* (2008) 555 U.S. 1020, 1023 [129 S.Ct. 564, 172 L.Ed.2d 445], Justice Stevens, dissenting from the denial of petitions for writs of certiorari, suggested that *Tison* represented a departure from *Enmund* and observed, "[i]n *Tison*..., rather than adhere to the rule announced in *Enmund*..., which prohibited death sentences for defendants who neither killed nor intended to kill a victim, a majority of the Court held that felony murder could qualify as a capital offense."

The United States Supreme Court has held that the cruel and unusual punishment clause of the Eighth Amendment also applies to noncapital sentences that are grossly disproportionate. (See, e.g., Solem v. Helm (1983) 463 U.S. 277, 288 [103 S.Ct. 3001, 77 L.Ed.2d 637] ("Solem") ["There is no basis for the State's assertion that the general principle of proportionality does not apply to felony prison sentences."]; see also Ewing v. California (2003) 538 U.S. 11, 21 [123 S.Ct. 1179, 155 (continued...)

In *Enmund*, Sampson and Jeanette Armstrong robbed and killed an elderly couple at their farmhouse. Two witnesses saw an unidentified man sitting in a large cream- or yellow-colored car some 200 yards away 5 to 15 minutes before the crimes were committed. Fifteen minutes after the completion of the crimes, another witness saw Enmund driving a yellow Buick "at a high rate of speed," with his common-law wife (the mother of Jeanette) in the front seat and two unidentified passengers in the back. Enmund was convicted of felony murder on an aiding and abetting theory and sentenced to death. (*Enmund*, *supra*, 458 U.S. at pp. 783-785.)

The United States Supreme Court held that Enmund's participation — as to which no proof of prior planning or intent to kill was presented (see *Enmund*, *supra*, 458 U.S. at pp. 786, 788) — was so attenuated that it could not justify a sentence of death. In reversing Enmund's sentence, the court stated: "The question before us is not the disproportionality of death as a penalty for murder, but rather the validity of capital punishment for Enmund's own conduct. The focus must be on *his* culpability, not on that of those who committed the robbery and shot the victims, for we insist on 'individualized consideration as a constitutional requirement in imposing the death sentence,' which means that we must focus on 'relevant facets of the character and record of the individual offender.' [Citation.]" (*Id.* at p. 798, original italics.) Enmund's culpability, the court observed, was minimal because "he did not kill or intend to kill; and, . . . the record . . .

^{(...}continued)

L.Ed.2d 108] ["The Eighth Amendment, which forbids cruel and unusual punishments, contains a 'narrow proportionality principle' that 'applies to noncapital sentences.""]; *Harmelin v. Michigan* (1990) 501 U.S. 957, 996-997 [111 S.Ct. 2680, 115 L.Ed.2d 836] [same]; cf. *Lockyer v. Andrade* (2003) 538 U.S. 63, 77 [123 S.Ct. 1166, 155 L.Ed.2d 144] ["The gross disproportionality principle reserves a constitutional violation for only the extraordinary case."].)

d[id] not warrant a finding that Enmund had any intention of participating in or facilitating a murder." (*Ibid*.)⁵

While *Enmund* prohibits the imposition of the death penalty in the absence of intent to kill and substantial participation in the underlying felony, it nevertheless allows for the most severe noncapital sentence available under state law. (See *Solem*, *supra*, 463 U.S. at p. 290 ["[C]learly no sentence of imprisonment would be disproportionate for Enmund's crime."]; see also *State v. Hightower* (N.C.Ct.App. 2005) 609 S.E.2d 234, 241 ["Defendant has failed to show *Enmund/Tison* review applies to this non-capital verdict judgment."]; *Kills On Top v. State* (1996) 279 Mont. 384 [928 P.2d 182, 206-207] [rejecting "wholesale adoption of the Supreme Court's language in *Tison*," holding the defendant's lack of intent and participation in the murder foreclosed imposition of the death penalty under

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